In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 21 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

In re

KENNETH HUMPHREY,

Case No. S247278

On Habeas Corpus.

First Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. A152056
San Francisco County Superior Court, Case No. 17007715
The Honorable Joseph M. Quinn, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

GEORGE GASCÓN

District Attorney

State Bar No. 182345

SHARON L. WOO

Chief Assistant District Attorney

State Bar No. 148139

WADE K. CHOW

Assistant Chief District Attorney

State Bar No. 168527

ALLISON G. MACBETH

Assistant District Attorney

State Bar No. 203547

850 Bryant Street, Room 322

San Francisco, California 94103

ISSUES ON REVIEW

In the Order of review, the Court limited the issues to be briefed and argued as follows:

1. Did the Court of Appeal err in holding that principles of constitutional due process and equal protection require consideration of a criminal defendant's ability to pay in setting or reviewing the amount of monetary bail?
2. In setting the amount of monetary bail, may a trial court consider public and victim safety? Must it do so?

3. Under what circumstances does the California Constitution permit bail to be denied in noncapital cases? Included is the question of what constitutional provision governs the denial of bail in noncapital cases—article I, section 12, subdivisions (b) and (c), or article I, section 28, subdivision (f)(3), of the California Constitution—or, in the alternative, whether these provisions may be reconciled.¹

INTRODUCTION

Whether it is a dangerous but wealthy defendant who is released after posting bail or an indigent defendant who poses no safety risk but remains incarcerated because he cannot afford the amount of bail set, California's monetary bail system is not only unjust, but it also fails to make us safer. At its core, our bail system divides defendants into two classes—those who can afford pre-trial release on bail and those who have no option but to remain in custody—creating wealth-based inequities.

Recognizing these inequities, the Court of Appeal correctly held that courts must consider a defendant's ability to pay (rather than relying solely on a bail schedule) before setting or reducing any amount of monetary bail as a matter of due process and equal protection. The Court of Appeal added that courts must also consider less restrictive non-monetary conditions of release before setting monetary bail. Those twin determinations of assessing ability to pay along with less restrictive non-monetary alternatives, too, are necessary to satisfy due process and equal protection.

¹ Subsequent references to “section 12” and “section 28” are to sections 12 and 28 of article I of the California Constitution.

These wealth-based inequities also fail to protect victims and the public because monetary bail's effectiveness is illusory. When the safety risk is high, a court will logically set a high amount of bail. A high amount of bail, though, does not uniformly protect safety: a dangerous but indigent defendant will be incarcerated, but an equally dangerous but wealthy defendant can purchase his freedom. The very notion of using monetary bail to prevent potential threats to public safety—in effect, to prevent new crimes—is also illogical under our system. Monetary bail simply cannot incentivize lawfulness because courts cannot forfeit bail when a defendant commits a new offense. As a result, those provisions that allow courts to consider public and victim safety in setting the amount of monetary bail run afoul of equal protection. A court, however, need not resort to bail to ensure the safety of victims and the community. Other constitutionally sound mechanisms found within sections 12 and 28 allow courts to deny bail in noncapital cases and preventatively detain dangerous defendants when necessary to protect victims and public safety. Such a solution is not only constitutional, but it is also more transparent and equitable.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY²

The initial complaint charged Respondent with first degree residential robbery (Pen. Code § 211), first degree residential burglary (Pen. Code § 459), inflicting an injury on an elder or dependent adult, other than great bodily injury (Pen. Code § 368, subd. (c)), and theft from an elder or dependent adult (Pen. Code § 368, subd. (d)).

On April 23, 2017, at approximately 5:43 p.m., the victim—an elderly 79-year-old man who required the use of a walker—returned to his

² Petitioner draws the relevant facts and procedural history from the Court of Appeal opinion. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(2).) Since this case presents legal rather than factual issues, Petitioner provides an abbreviated summary.

apartment. After the victim opened the door to his apartment, Respondent followed the victim inside and demanded money. Respondent then told the victim to get on the bed, while threatening to put a pillowcase over the victim's head. When the victim told Respondent that he had no money, Respondent grabbed the victim's cell phone and threw it onto the floor. The victim then complied with Respondent's commands and handed Defendant \$2 from his wallet. Respondent stole an additional \$5 along with some cologne and fled.

At Respondent's arraignment, the trial court issued a criminal protective order for the victim and set Respondent's bail at \$600,000 at the prosecutor's request and based on the bail schedule. The trial court noted that although Respondent's prior convictions were old, Respondent had a lengthy criminal history. Considering the seriousness of the offense and the vulnerability of the victim, the trial court denied Respondent's request to be released on his own recognizance.

At a subsequent bail hearing, the trial court noted that Respondent's current offense was similar to his prior offenses and described Respondent's acts here as "basically a home invasion[.]" After commending Respondent's willingness to participate in treatment and finding that Respondent had strong ties to the community, the trial court reduced Respondent's bail to \$350,000.

The Court of Appeal granted Respondent's subsequent petition for writ of habeas corpus, holding that equal protection and due process require courts to inquire into a defendant's ability to pay and assess the available non-monetary alternatives before setting monetary bail. This Court granted review on its own motion and designated the District Attorney of the City and County of San Francisco as Petitioner.

ARGUMENT

I. DUE PROCESS AND EQUAL PROTECTION REQUIRE A COURT TO CONSIDER A DEFENDANT'S ABILITY TO PAY AND NON-MONETARY ALTERNATIVES BEFORE SETTING OR REVIEWING THE AMOUNT OF MONETARY BAIL

Where a defendant's liberty is tethered to the amount of money he has, it is incumbent on the courts to consider both a defendant's ability to pay and whether non-monetary alternatives might better ensure the defendant's appearance in court. By considering these individualized circumstances (rather than automatically setting a bail amount at arraignment based upon a bail schedule), courts can reasonably connect their decisions with the government's legitimate interest in ensuring the defendant's appearance. Relying on well-established authority, the Court of Appeal correctly held that trial courts must make both inquiries before setting or reviewing the amount of bail in order to satisfy due process and equal protection. (*In re Humphrey* (2018) 19 Cal.App.5th 1006, 1037 (*Humphrey*).

As detailed by the Court of Appeal, courts have long held that due process and equal protection require courts to consider a person's ability to pay, along with any available alternatives, when a person's liberty depends solely on his indigency. (See, e.g., *Bearden v. Georgia* (1983) 461 U.S. 660, 672 (*Bearden*) [ability to pay and alternative measures]; *In re Antazo* (1970) 3 Cal.3d 100, 113-116 (*Antazo*) [alternative means]; *Hernandez v. Sessions* (9th Cir. 2017) 872 F.3d 976, 991-994 (*Hernandez*).

Where a constitutional challenge arises from a person's indigency, "[d]ue process and equal protection principles converge[.]" (*Bearden, supra*, 461 U.S. at p. 665; see also *M.L.B. v. S.L.J.* (1996) 519 U.S. 102, 120 [same].)

Whether analyzed in terms of equal protection or due process, [. . . the issue] requires careful inquiry into such factors as ‘the nature of the individual interest affected, the extent to which it is affected, the rationality of the connection between legislative means and purpose, [and] the existence of alternatively means for effectuating the purpose[.]’

(*Bearden, supra*, 461 U.S. at pp. 666-667 quoting *Williams v. Illinois* (1970) 399 U.S. 235, 260 (Harlan, J., conc. opn.)

In *Bearden*, the Court considered whether the Fourteenth Amendment prohibited revocation of an indigent defendant’s probation because the defendant failed to pay a probationary fine. (461 U.S. at p. 661.)

Ultimately, the Court concluded that equal protection and due process require a court to inquire into a defendant’s financial resources along with any alternative measures short of incarceration. (See *Bearden, supra*, 461 U.S. at pp. 671-674.) Otherwise, a person’s incarceration may result solely because he lacks the funds to pay the fine. (*Id.*; see also *Turner v. Rogers* (2011) 564 U.S. 431, 447-449 (*Turner*) [civil proceedings].)

California, too, has long recognized that equal protection requires that a court consider a defendant’s financial resources and available alternatives where incarceration may result from the non-payment of a monetary condition. (See, e.g., *Antazo, supra*, 3 Cal.3d at pp. 103-104, 113-116 [alternative methods relevant to determine whether imprisonment of indigent defendant necessary for non-payment of fines]; *People v. Goulart* (1990) 224 Cal.App.3d 71, 84 [equal protection requires a hearing on defendant’s ability to pay restitution]; *In re Siegel* (1975) 45 Cal.App.3d 843, 846-848 [error for court to incarcerate on contempt for failure to pay fine without inquiring into ability to pay] overruled on other grounds *People v. Romero* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 728, 744, fn. 10; see also *Ex parte Duncan* (1879) 54 Cal. 75, 78 [inquiry into financial means relevant to setting the amount of monetary bail].) In *Antazo*, the Court considered

whether a convicted indigent defendant could be required to serve a term of imprisonment because he was unable to pay the fines previously imposed. (3 Cal.3d at pp. 103, 109-110.) The *Antazo* Court noted that the proper use of imprisonment “presupposes an ability to pay and a contumacious offender[.]” but observed that imprisonment there applied to those who were *unable* to pay. (*Id.* at p. 114.) The Court concluded that the defendant’s incarceration resulted solely because of his indigency, which violated equal protection. (*Id.* at pp. 115-116.) In order to avoid this equal protection problem, the *Antazo* Court implicitly recognized that courts must inquire into available alternatives before incarcerating an indigent defendant. (*Id.* at pp. 114-116.)

Furthermore, the Ninth Circuit squarely held that courts must consider a person’s ability to pay and any available alternatives before fixing the amount of bail as a matter of due process. (*Hernandez, supra*, 872 F.3d at pp. 981, 991, 994.) Otherwise, the amount of monetary bail set “is unlikely to result in a [bail] amount that is reasonably related to the government’s legitimate interests.” (*Id.* at p. 991.) For that reason, the Ninth Circuit agreed with the district court, which stated that ““when a person’s freedom from governmental detention is conditioned on payment of a monetary sum, courts must consider the person’s financial situation and alternative conditions of release when calculating what the person must pay to satisfy a particular state interest.”” (*Id.* at pp. 992-993.) Were a court not to consider a person’s ability to pay the monetary sum, “there is a significant risk that the individual will be needlessly deprived of the fundamental right to liberty.” (*Id.* at p. 993.)

California’s statutory bail provisions, however, do not uniformly require that a court consider a defendant’s financial circumstances in setting

the amount of bail. (*Humphrey, supra*, 19 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1024-1025.) Rather, Penal Code section 1270.1³ provides that courts must consider a defendant's financial circumstances for certain enumerated offenses, including serious felonies and misdemeanor domestic violence, but that provision only applies when the court increases or decreases the bail amount from the scheduled amount. (Pen. Code § 1270.1, subs. (a)-(c); see also Pen. Code § 1269b, subd. (c).) In other circumstances, though, California's statutory provisions *do* require a court to consider a person's ability to pay. (See, e.g., Pen. Code § 1202.4, subd. (d) [a defendant's inability to pay is a factor, among others, to consider in setting the amount of the restitution fine]; Pen. Code § 1203.097, subd. (a)(7)(A)(i) [program fees based on ability to pay]; Pen. Code § 1203.097, subd. (c)(1)(P) [sliding fee schedule for batterer's program]; Pen. Code § 1464 [imprisonment for failure to pay penalty assessment may be waived when it imposes hardship]; Veh. Code § 42003 [willful violation of order to pay fines is punishable by incarceration, but, upon request of the defendant, the court shall consider the defendant's ability to pay]; Gov. Code § 29550.2 [if the person has the ability to pay, judgment of conviction shall include order to pay booking fee].)

When considering the weight of this authority and California's existing monetary bail provisions, equal protection and due process dictate that a court consider a criminal defendant's ability to pay in setting or reviewing the amount of monetary bail, particularly when there is no meaningful distinction between incarceration because an indigent defendant cannot afford to pay a probationary fine and incarceration solely because an indigent defendant cannot afford to post bail. (See *Griffin v. Illinois* (1956)

³ Other than sections 12 and 28, all other statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise noted.

351 U.S. 12, 18 [no meaningful distinction for an indigent defendant between the right to defend oneself at trial and a record for meaningful appellate review]; see also *Turner, supra*, 564 U.S. at pp. 447-449 [civil proceedings]; *Antazo, supra*, 3 Cal.3d at p. 116.) Furthermore, *Bearden* directs that a court make the inquiry; otherwise, a person may be incarcerated solely because he cannot afford the amount of bail. (*Bearden, supra*, 461 U.S. at pp. 671, 674; see also *Hernandez, supra*, 872 F.3d at p. 992.)

Ability to pay does not, however, end the court's inquiry. Rather, the court must assess the viability of non-monetary alternatives to ensure that the amount of monetary bail set necessarily meets the stated interest, particularly when the court sets the bail amount beyond the defendant's ability to pay. (*Bearden, supra*, 461 U.S. at p. 667 [equal protection and due process require inquiry into the "existence of alternative means"]; *Antazo, supra*, 3 Cal.3d at pp. 112-116; *Hernandez, supra*, 872 F.3d at pp. 992-993.) If not, the court cannot be assured that the resulting detention advances the stated interest. (*Hernandez, supra*, 872 F.2d at p. 991.)

The Court of Appeal here carefully identified and considered these due process and equal protection issues in setting monetary bail. In doing so, the Court of Appeal correctly held that a trial court must consider—before setting or reviewing monetary bail—the defendant's ability to pay and any non-monetary alternatives available to the court.

II. WHILE CALIFORNIA'S CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS MANDATE SETTING THE AMOUNT OF BAIL BASED ON PUBLIC AND VICTIM SAFETY, DOING SO IMPLICATES EQUAL PROTECTION CONCERNS

By making liberty contingent upon wealth, California's monetary bail scheme inherently denies equal protection when bail is set to protect public and victim safety. A disconnect between the amount of bail set and its consequences, combined with the inequitable results of setting bail based

on safety risk alone, creates this equal protection problem. California's pre-trial detention system, on the other hand, narrowly serves the compelling governmental interests of preventing arrestees from committing further crimes and protecting victims and the community by preventatively incarcerating only those individuals who pose serious safety risks irrespective of wealth or indigency.

To understand how this equal protection problem arose, the evolution between the purposes behind monetary bail and its consequences must be considered. Traditionally, monetary bail served to ensure a person's appearance in court, a legitimate government interest. (*In re Underwood* (1973) 9 Cal.3d 345, 348 (*Underwood*) superseded by statute as stated in *In re York* (1995) 9 Cal.4th 1133, 1143, fn. 7 (*York*); *Stack v. Boyle* (1951) 342 U.S. 1, 5 [amount of bail set to assure presence of the defendant].) As the California Supreme Court stated in 1973, "[t]he purpose of bail is to assure the defendant's attendance in court when his presence is required[.]" (*Underwood, supra*, 9 Cal.3d at p. 348; see also *People v. Financial Casualty & Surety, Inc.* (2016) 2 Cal.5th 35, 42 ["The purpose of bail and its forfeiture, however, is to ensure the accused's attendance and obedience to the criminal court[.]".]) Bail, however, did not serve to punish defendants or to protect public safety. (*Underwood, supra*, 9 Cal.3d at p. 348.) In accordance with these principles, bail could be forfeited if a defendant failed to appear. (See Pen. Code § 1305, subd. (a) (Matthew Bender 1981).)

But in 1982 and then in 1987, both the electorate and the Legislature mandated that public safety, not the certainty of the defendant's appearance, be the primary factor in setting monetary bail. (Cal. Const., former art. I, § 28, subd. (e), now art. I, § 28, subd. (f)(3); *In re McSherry* (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 856, 861, 862; Pen. Code § 1275 (West 1988); see also *Naidu v. Superior Court* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 300, 308, 312

[recognizing public safety as primary consideration in setting bail].) Still, section 12 included the “seriousness of the offense” as a factor in fixing bail. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 12.) In order to assess the seriousness of the offense, courts must consider any injury to the victim, any threats made, and the use of a deadly weapon—all factors indicative of a public safety risk. (Pen. Code § 1275, subd. (a)(2) (West 1988).) Subsequently, the voters amended section 28 to add victim safety as another primary consideration in setting monetary bail. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 28, subd. (f)(3).) Section 1305, however, was not amended to allow courts to forfeit bail if a defendant committed a new offense. (See Pen. Code § 1305, subd. (a) (Thomson West 2009).)

Recently, the federal district court concluded that setting monetary bail based only on a public safety risk bears no rational relationship to protecting public safety because monetary bail cannot be forfeited when a defendant commits a new crime. (*Reem v. Hennessy* (N.D. Cal. Dec. 21, 2017, Case No. 17-cv-06628-CRB) 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 210430, *8, *13 (*Reem I*) citing Karnow, SETTING BAIL FOR PUBLIC SAFETY (2008) 13 Berkeley J. Crim. L. 1, 3, 8 (Karnow).) Because the courts lack the ability to forfeit bail based on a new crime, the amount of monetary bail itself “does nothing to incentivize [a defendant] not to commit crimes.” (*Reem I, supra*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 210430 at p. *9 citing Karnow, *supra*, at p. 2.) The illogical way the bail system in California works, however, does not in itself create an equal protection problem, the district court observed. (*Reem I, supra*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 210430 at pp. *12-13.) Rather, “the disparate way in which it affects the wealthy and indigent does[.]” (*Id.* at p. *13.) The federal court concluded that California’s bail provisions in their application present an equal protection issue because “[t]he state cannot

detain the indigent person based on public safety concerns while letting the wealthy person walk only because he has money.” (*Id.* at pp. *13-14.)⁴

California law leads to the same conclusion reached by the federal district court in *Reem I*: California’s monetary bail system raises equal protection issues where monetary bail is set to protect public and victim safety. Like the United States Constitution, the California Constitution prohibits laws that deny equal protection. (Cal. Const., art. I, § 7, subd. (a); see also Cal. Const., art. IV, § 16, subd. (a) [mandating uniform operation of the law].) In assessing an equal protection challenge, the rights implicated must first be identified. (See *People v. Olivas* (1976) 17 Cal.3d 236, 243-244 (*Olivas*).) At minimum, there is a presumption of constitutionality, and distinctions need only “bear some rational relationship to a conceivable legitimate state purpose.” (*Olivas, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 243 quoting *Serrano v. Priest* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 597 (*Serrano*); see also *Johnson v. Department of Justice* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 871, 881 (*Johnson*) [rational relationship test applied where no suspect class or fundamental right].) Under the rational basis challenge, “a party must “negative every conceivable basis” that might support the disputed statutory disparity.” (*Johnson, supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 881.)

When “suspect classifications” or “fundamental interests” are implicated, however, strict scrutiny applies. (*Olivas, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 243 quoting *Serrano, supra*, 17 Cal.3d at p. 597.) “Under the strict standard applied in such cases, the state bears the burden of establishing not only that it has a *compelling* interest which justifies the law but that the

⁴ The district court pointed out that its decision did not address the validity of the constitutional and statutory provisions as a matter of state law. (*Id.* at p. *12, fn. 1.)

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