SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG 6 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

CASE NO. S247278

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In Re KENNETH HUMPHREY,

on Habeas Corpus.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Court of Appeal Case No. A152056 (First Appellate District)
Superior Court Case No. 17007715 (County of San Francisco),
Hcn. Joseph M. Quinn

Jeff Adachi
San Francisco Public Defender
Matt Gonzalez
Chief Attorney
Christopher F. Gauger (SBN 104451)
Anita Nabha (SBN 264071)
Chesa Boudin (SBN 284577)
Deputy Public Defenders
555 Seventh Street
San Francisco, CA 94103
Telephone: (415) 553-1019
Facsimile: (415) 553-9810
chesa.boudin@sfgov.org

Thomas G. Sprankling (SBN 294831)
Wilmer Cutler Pickering

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

The right against wealth-based detention is unusual because it “reflect[s] both equal protection and due process concerns.” *M.L.B. v. S.L.J.*, 519 U.S. 102, 120 (1996). Hence, when the U.S. Supreme Court held that the indigent are not a suspect class for equal-protection purposes, it expressly exempted the *Williams-Tate-Bearden* line of cases because they

involved an “absolute deprivation” of liberty to a “class ... composed only of persons who were totally unable to pay the demanded sum.” *San Antonio Independent School District v. Rodriguez*, 411 U.S. 1, 21-22 (1973). Similarly, such cases are not limited by the ordinary equal-protection rule excluding disparate-impact liability. *See M.L.B.*, 519 U.S. at 125-127 (distinguishing *Washington v. Davis*, 426 U.S. 229 (1976), which adopted that rule).

Though *Williams*, *Tate*, and *Bearden* involved penal fines (fines imposed on those already convicted), courts have extended those cases’ holdings to the pretrial context. The en banc Fifth Circuit did so, for example, in *Pugh v. Rainwater*, 572 F.2d 1053 (5th Cir. 1978). The court there recognized (as did the Court of Appeal here) that the core holding of *Williams*, *Tate*, and *Bearden*—that post-conviction imprisonment “solely because of indigent status is invidious discrimination and not constitutionally permissible”—has even “broader ... implications” with pretrial arrestees, that is, individuals “accused but not convicted of crime.” *Id.* at 1056; accord *Humphrey*, 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1033 (“The liberty interest of the defendant, who is presumed innocent, is even greater [in the bail context].”). That conclusion accords with the U.S. Supreme Court’s explanation that bail “serves to prevent the infliction of punishment prior to conviction. Unless this right to bail before trial is preserved, the

presumption of innocence ... would lose its meaning.” *Stack v. Boyle*, 341 U.S. 1, 4 (1951).

In sum, a court must inquire into a defendant’s ability to pay before imposing a financial condition of release because otherwise it cannot know whether such a condition would result in wealth-based detention.

Pretrial liberty. Imposing money bail also implicates the constitutional right to pretrial liberty. As the U.S. Supreme Court explained in *Salerno*, an “individual’s ... interest in liberty” is “fundamental,” and it is therefore a “‘general rule’ of substantive due process that the government may not detain a person prior to a judgment of guilt.” 481 U.S. at 749, 750. The Court has similarly explained that “[f]reedom from bodily restraint has always been at the core of the liberty protected by the Due Process Clause.” *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 80 (1992). Under this precedent, judicial orders of pretrial detention are subject to strict scrutiny. *See Lopez-Valenzuela v. Arpaio*, 770 F.3d 772, 780-781 (9th Cir. 2014) (en banc).³

Strict scrutiny applies to the imposition of monetary bail whenever it results in detention due to indigence. That is because unaffordable money bail “is the functional equivalent of an order for pretrial detention.” *Brangan v. Commonwealth*, 80 N.E.3d 949, 963 (Mass. 2017);

³ *Salerno* upheld preventive detention under the 1984 Bail Reform Act in “extremely serious” felony cases. 481 U.S. at 750. This case does not present the question of how serious an offense must be under federal law to justify the deprivation of a defendant’s pretrial liberty.

accord State v. Brown, 338 P.3d 1276, 1292 (N.M. 2014); *United States v. Mantecon-Zayas*, 949 F.2d 548, 550 (1st Cir. 1991) (per curiam); *United States v. Leisure*, 710 F.2d 422, 425 (8th Cir. 1983); *United States v. Leathers*, 412 F.2d 169, 171 (D.C. Cir. 1969) (per curiam). Courts in this state have likewise recognized that an order to pay secured money bail in an amount the defendant cannot pay is a de facto detention order, that is, an order depriving the defendant of his right to pretrial liberty. *E.g., In re Christie*, 92 Cal. App. 4th 1105, 1109 (2001).

Consistent with the foregoing arguments, the Court of Appeal explained here that both the *Salerno* and *Williams-Tate-Bearden* lines of cases “compel the conclusion” that a court, in imposing money bail, must make a finding concerning the defendant’s ability to pay. 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1037; *see also id.* at 1041. If a court does not make that inquiry, it cannot know whether requiring money bail of a particular amount would result in pretrial detention, implicating the defendant’s rights against wealth-based detention and to pretrial liberty.

Consideration of bail alternatives is likewise constitutionally required, as the Court of Appeal also held, *see* 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1048, and as petitioner agrees (Br. 12). *Bearden* leaves no doubt about this, stating that if a statutorily required fine is unaffordable, then “the court must consider alternative measures of punishment other than imprisonment.” 461 U.S. at 672. And, the Court continued, “[o]nly if

alternative measures are not adequate to meet the State's interests in punishment and deterrence may the court imprison a probationer who has made sufficient bona fide efforts to pay." *Id.* Similarly, *Salerno* upheld pretrial-detention orders where the government proved there was no feasible alternative, i.e., that "no conditions of release c[ould] reasonably assure the safety of the community or any person." 481 U.S. at 750; *see also Humphrey*, 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1037; *Lopez-Valenzuela*, 770 F.3d at 780; *Brangan*, 80 N.E.3d at 962. Applied to this context, these holdings mean that a court can impose an unaffordable financial condition of release only if it concludes that no other conditions will satisfy the government's compelling interests. *Humphrey*, 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1037. And again, a court cannot know whether a particular amount of money bail would be unaffordable unless it inquires into the defendant's ability to pay. Such an inquiry is thus required by due process and equal protection.

B. The cases cited above do not hold that the U.S. Constitution never permits money bail to be imposed in an amount the defendant cannot pay. As the Court of Appeal explained, if a court concludes that "an amount of bail the defendant is unable to pay is required to ensure his or her future court appearances" (or serve another compelling government interest), then it "may impose that amount," but only "upon a determination by clear and convincing evidence that no less restrictive alternative will satisfy that purpose." 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1037. The Court of Appeal was

correct to conclude that clear and convincing evidence (the same standard mandated by article I, section 12) is the minimum standard of proof allowed on this point under the Due Process Clause.⁴

“The function of a standard of proof ... is [partly] to instruct the factfinder concerning the degree of confidence our society thinks he should have in the correctness of factual conclusions for a particular type of adjudication.” *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 423 (1979) (quotation marks omitted). In addition (and relatedly), “[t]he standard serves ... to indicate the relative importance attached to the ultimate decision.” *Id.*

Given these functions, the U.S. Supreme Court has “mandated an intermediate standard of proof—‘clear and convincing evidence’—when the individual interests at stake in a state proceeding are both ‘particularly important’ and ‘more substantial than mere loss of money.’” *Santosky v. Kramer*, 455 U.S. 745, 756 (1982) (quoting *Addington*, 441 U.S. at 424). Of particular relevance here, “the Court has deemed this level of certainty necessary ... in a variety of ... proceedings that threaten the individual involved with ‘a significant deprivation of liberty’ or ‘stigma.’” *Id.* (citing cases). When a person might be detained, a heightened “standard of proof

⁴ Petitioner appears to agree with that conclusion (*see* Br. 46-47), although he addresses it only in discussing the third issue presented. Respondent submits that the proper standard of proof is, as the Court of Appeal’s opinion indicates, also central to the first issue presented, because it dictates when money bail can be imposed even if the defendant is unable to pay.

... reflects the value society places on individual liberty.” *Addington*, 441 U.S. at 425.

This precedent leaves no doubt that clear and convincing evidence is required before a court can detain an arrestee pretrial (either transparently or by requiring an unaffordable financial condition of release). There is no reasonable basis to dispute that the “individual interests at stake” in those circumstances are “particularly important.” *Santosky*, 455 U.S. at 756. This Court has held that personal liberty is “a fundamental interest second only to life itself in terms of constitutional importance.” *Van Atta v. Scott*, 27 Cal. 3d 424, 435 (1980); *accord Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 750 (describing “the individual’s ... interest in liberty” as “fundamental”). This Court has therefore required clear and convincing evidence in other cases implicating similar liberty interests, such as *In re Manuel L.*, 7 Cal. 4th 229 (1994), where the issue was whether a minor understood the wrongfulness of his criminal actions and thus could be prosecuted for them (with the concomitant risk of loss of liberty). The U.S. Supreme Court has likewise held that a heightened standard is constitutionally mandated in cases involving potential denials of individual liberty. For example, *Addington* required clear and convincing evidence in order to detain an intellectually disabled individual based on the possibility of future dangerousness. *See* 441 U.S. at 432; *accord Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 80 (citing *Jones v. United States*, 463 U.S. 354, 362 (1983)). “[T]he individual’s interest in the

outcome of a civil commitment proceeding,” the *Addington* Court wrote, “is of such weight and gravity that due process requires the state to justify confinement by proof more substantial than a mere preponderance of the evidence.” 441 U.S. at 427. The same is true here.

In fact, the U.S. Supreme Court has addressed the heightened standard of proof in this very context (denials of the right to pretrial liberty). In rejecting a facial challenge to the 1984 Bail Reform Act, the Court in *Salerno* repeatedly relied on the fact that the statute authorized pretrial detention only if the government proved by clear and convincing evidence that no conditions of release could reasonably assure public safety. *See Kleinbart v. United States*, 604 A.2d 861, 869 (D.C. 1992) (noting *Salerno*’s repeated reliance on that fact). Indeed, the *Salerno* Court referred to the clear-and-convincing requirement half a dozen times, including in the first sentence of the opinion. *See* 481 U.S. at 741, 742, 744, 750, 751. Though the Court was not presented with whether clear and convincing evidence was constitutionally required, its pervasive references to the heightened standard strongly suggest that it is. So does the fact that the Court, in subsequently striking down Louisiana’s system for “detention of insanity acquittees who are no longer mentally ill,” *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 81, repeatedly emphasized the clear-and-convincing standard, *see id.* at 80-81 (citing *Salerno*).

That a heightened evidentiary standard is required in this context is particularly clear given that the liberty interest is typically even greater here than with civil commitments, where *Addington* mandated a clear-and-convincing standard. Although a period of civil commitment sometimes lasts longer than a period of pretrial detention, a “detainee’s ability to adequately prepare a defense is greatly curtailed,” not only because “consultation with an attorney is severely impaired,” but also because “[i]mprisonment severely hinders the detainee’s ability to gather evidence and interview witnesses.” *Van Atta*, 27 Cal. 3d at 435-436; *accord Humphrey*, 19 Cal. App. 5th at 1032. This handicapping increases the risk of conviction, which can lead to a much lengthier period of detention than a civil commitment—and the many collateral consequences that accompany a criminal conviction. Empirical research also indicates that those who are convicted after being detained pretrial receive longer sentences than those who are convicted after being free pretrial. *See, e.g.,* Heaton et al., *The Downstream Consequences of Misdemeanor Pretrial Detention*, 69 Stan. L. Rev. 711, 747, 748 tbl. 3 (2017); Stevenson, *Distortion of Justice: How the Inability to Pay Bail Affects Case Outcomes* 18 (2017), available at <https://ssrn.com/abstract=2777615> (visited Aug. 6, 2018). This additional impact on personal liberty further confirms that pretrial detention demands clear and convincing evidence (as California’s Constitution has also long required).

Petitioner notes (Br. 47 n.7) that some federal courts have, despite the foregoing, applied a preponderance standard when the issue is detention based on flight risk rather than (as in *Salerno*) detention based on possible dangerousness. Those courts, however, did so as a matter of statutory interpretation, reasoning that the Bail Reform Act imposes a clear-and-convincing standard for dangerousness-based detention while remaining “silent with regard to the burden of proof governing the finding that a person poses a risk of flight.” *United States v. Motamedi*, 767 F.2d 1403, 1406 (9th Cir. 1985); accord *United States v. Fortna*, 769 F.2d 243, 250 (5th Cir. 1985); *United States v. Medina*, 775 F.2d 1398, 1402 (11th Cir. 1985); *United States v. Chimurenga*, 760 F.2d 400, 405-406 (2d Cir. 1985). None of the cases “analyze[d] the constitutional ramifications of its decision.” *Motamedi*, 767 F.2d at 1412 (Boochever, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). And as a matter of due process, there is no reason that the standard should vary based on why a defendant is detained. Whatever the basis, the deprivation of the individual’s liberty—which is the rationale for the heightened standard—is the same. See *Kleinbart*, 604 A.2d at 870.

In short, due process requires a heightened standard of proof when sufficiently important interests are at stake. And as both this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court have recognized, hardly any interest is more important than personal liberty. This Court should therefore hold that pretrial liberty

cannot constitutionally be denied, including by imposing unaffordable money bail, unless the trial court makes the necessary findings by clear and convincing evidence.⁵

II. A CALIFORNIA COURT MAY NOT CONSIDER PUBLIC OR VICTIM SAFETY IN SETTING MONETARY BAIL

As with the first question presented, respondent agrees with petitioner’s answer (Br. 26) to this Court’s second question: It is unconstitutional for a court in California to consider public safety, including victim safety, when imposing monetary bail.

The use of money bail discriminates against poor defendants, who unlike other defendants frequently cannot afford to secure their freedom. To justify such wealth-based differential treatment, the government’s action—here, imposing a financial condition of release—must be rationally related to a legitimate government interest (unless the action results in detention, in which case, as explained, it must satisfy strict scrutiny). Protecting public safety is certainly a legitimate government interest; in fact, it is compelling. *Salerno*, 481 U.S. at 749. But money bail, and the

⁵ The discussion in this section (as in the next one) rests on the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Respondent’s habeas petition expressly disavowed the separate argument “that unaffordable money bail is excessive” in violation of the Eighth Amendment (or the state constitution). Pet. 22. That separate argument, having not been raised in the petition, is not before this Court—and for clarity the Court may deem it appropriate to note that in its opinion. To the extent the Court wishes to address the issue, it should await a case in which the parties have presented it with full briefing.

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